IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO, 80,568

MICHAEL C. KNICKERBOCKER,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH 774ORNEY GENERAL

JA BUMES W. ROGERS FLREAU CHIEF ORIDA BAR NO. 325791

AM ASELIA L. BEISNER FLSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 832413

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State." Respondent, Michael C. Knickerbocker, appellant below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to herein as "the defendant." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(\mathfrak{s}). References to the transcript of proceedings will be by the use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(\mathfrak{s}).

All references are to the record and transcripts contained in the First District's case number 90-03312 (circuit court case number 89-3161-CF).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was charged with three counts of sexual battery contrary to Section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes, as well as one count of kidnapping and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling (R 11-12), and a jury found him guilty as charged on all five counts (R 135-140). Pursuant to these convictions, the trial court adjudged the defendant guilty and sentenced him to consecutive terms of life imprisonment as a habitual violent felony offender (R 183-188). On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal reversed the sentences imposed by the trial court on the three sexual battery counts, holding that life felonies are not subject to sentencing under Section 775.084, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), the habitual felony offender provision. However, the First District certified the following question of great public importance:

MAY A SENTENCE FOR A LIFE FELONY BE ENHANCED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE?

Additionally, the First District, relying on its previous decision in <u>Anderson v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, held that the trial court erred reversibly in failing to make specific findings of fact before sentencing the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender.

On October 5, 1992, the State filed a notice to invoke discretionary review pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), based on the certification of the aformentioned question.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: By enacting Section 775.0842, Florida Statutes, the legislature expressly declared its intent that all felonies -- including life felonies -- committed within this state are subject to punishment under the habitual felony offender provision. Furthermore, the substantive provision pursuant to which the defendant here was convicted and sentenced expressly provides for punishment under Section 775.084, the habitual felony offender provision. This Court therefore should answer in the affirmative the certified question as to whether life felonies are subject to enhanced sentencing under the habitual felony offender statute.

Issue II: The First District's decision in Anderson v. State, infra, conflicts with this Court's decision in Eutsey v. State, infra, and with decisions of other district courts. Eutsey should be reaffirmed and the decision below reversed. Additionally, Anderson is contrary to the settled rule that the burden of proof for affirmative defenses falls on the defendant and that a trial court is not required to rule on unraised affirmative defenses. Finally, the First District's decision in Anderson is contrary to the rule that final convictions are presumed valid until a colorable challenge is raised. This Court therefore should reverse the district court's decision in the instant case, based on the holding in Anderson, that the trial court erred

reversibly in failing to make findings of fact before sentencing the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

MAY A SENTENCE FOR A LIFE FELONY BE ENHANCED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE?

The defendant argued below that the trial court improperly sentenced him as a habitual violent felony offender after he was convicted of life felonies in three counts of sexual battery pursuant to Section 794.011(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). The First District agreed with the defendant and held that life felonies are not subject to sentencing under Section 775.084, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), regardless of the fact that the sexual battery statute under which the defendant was convicted specifically provides for sentencing under that provision. Accordingly, the First District held that the trial court erred in sentencing the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender in Counts I, 11, and 111, and it certified to this Court the above-stated question of great public importance. For the following reasons, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and reinstate the sentences imposed by the trial court.

As the First District acknowledged in its opinion below, its decision on this point directly and expressly conflicts with the Third District's decision in Lamont v.State, 597 So.2d 823 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (en banc), rev. pending, Case no. 79,586 (Fla.). There, the Third District

determined that Lamont, who was convicted of sexual battery with a weapon pursuant to Section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes, was subject to sentencing under the habitual felony offender statute. In rejecting the defendant's claim that life felonies are not subject to sentencing under Section 775.084, the <u>Lamont</u> court determined that

[t]o follow the defendants' construction of the Act would defeat the expressed legislative intent of providing enhanced penalties for career criminals in order to deter criminal conduct. It is not rational, to say the least, to interpret statutes so that those career criminals who commit the most serious of felony crimes are subject not enhanced punishment under the habitual offender statute, while those commit less serious crimes are included within its scope,

Id. at 826. The court further noted that Section 794.011(3), the substantive statute under which Lamont was convicted, specifically provided for sentencing under Section 775.084. The court thus concluded that

[t]he legislature would not have specifically indicated in each statute that Section 775.084 was to be used in determining a defendant's sentence if it had intended to exclude defendants convicted of such felonies from the scope of the Act.

Id. at 826-827 (footnote omitted).

After addressing these specific aspects of the statute, the Lamont court reached the following conclusion:

In order to give effect to the legislative intent, and to avoid a construction of the statutory language

which would lead to an absurd result, analysis must focus consideration of the Act as a whole. far Accordingly, a more reasonable construction of the statute which would give effect to the legislative intent of deterring repeat offenders, would be to recognize that extended terms life felons imprisonment for authorized under subsection (4)(e) of Thus, a more accurate the statute. analysis of the applicability of the act would be as follows. Once a defendant has been classified as a habitual felany offender, then "the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment in this provided section. §775.084(1)(b), Fla. (1989).Stat. Referring to subsection (4)(c) "in this section, " the court may then sentence life felony defendants to life imprisonment because subsection (4)(e) of the statute removes habitual violent felony offenders from the sentencing guidelines, makes them ineligible for parole and removes their eligibility for gain-time (except that specified).

Id. at 827 (footnotes omitted).

While the First District did not discuss the correctness of the <u>Lamont</u> decision in its opinion in the instant case, the court squarely addressed the <u>Lamont</u> holding in its recent opinion in <u>Lee v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D2392 (Fla. 1st DCA October 12, 1992) (<u>en banc</u>). In <u>Lee</u>, the First District rejected the Third District's reasoning in <u>Lamont</u> as follows:

The rationale of Lamont fails when the history of the relevant statutes is examined. Since the advent of life felonies in chapter 72-724, Laws of Florida, no amendment to recidivist statute has referenced life felonies, and prior to enactment of section 6, chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida, the

penalty provisions of sectian 775.084 did not include subsection (4)(e). Yet, in chapter 75-298, Laws of Florida, the legislature began directing punishment as provided in section 775.084 for life felonies. It appears that this omnibus crime bill made universal reference to section 775.084 for all felonies other capital felonies, consideration of the specific contents of the recidivist statute. The Lamont having conceded that sections 775.084(4)(a) and 775.084(4)(b) do not apply to life felonies, we fail to see the logic of the legislative intent it ascribes to the 1975 enactment.

Lee v. State, 17 F.L.W. at D2393-2394 (emphasis added).

An examination of the legislature's 1988 amendments to the habitual felony offender provision, as well as its 1988 enactment of Sections 775.0841 and 775.0842, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), reveals that the Lamont court was eminently correct in determining that life felonies are subject to the habitual felony offender provision, and that the First District's contrary interpretation af Section 775.084 in Lee was erroneous. In 1988, the legislature amended Section 775.084 to include subsection (4)(e), which exempts habitual felons from the sentencing quidelines, makes habitual felons ineligible for parole, and limits the amount of gain-time habitual felons receive. Simultaneously, may legislature enacted Section 775.0841, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), which provides as follows:

Legislative findings and intent. The Legislature hereby finds that a substantial and disproportionate number of serious crimes is committed in Florida by a relatively small number of

multiple and repeat felony offenders, commonly known as career criminals. The Legislature further finds that priority should be given to the investigation, apprehension, and prosecution of career criminals in the use of law enforcement resources and to the incarceration of career criminals in the use of available prison space. The Legislature intends initiate and support increased efforts by state and local enforcement agencies and state attorneys' offices investigate, to apprehend, and prosecute career criminals and to incarcerate them for extended terms.

More importantly, the legislature enacted Section 775.0842, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), wherein it expressly defined "persons subject to career criminal prosecution efforts" as follows:

(1)(a) A person who is under arrest for the cammission, attempted commission, or conspiracy to commit any felony in this state shall be the subject of career criminal prosecution efforts provided that such person has previously been convicted of two or more felonies as outlined in section 775.084(1).

(Emphasis added).

Despite the explicit statement of legislative intent contained in the above provisions, the First District consistently has held that the legislature's failure to list life felonies under the enhancement or "bump-up" provisions of Sections 775.084(4)(a) and (4)(b) is indicative of the legislature's intent to exclude those convicted of life felonies from sentencing under the habitual felony offender provision. See, e.g., Lee v. State, supra; Gholston v.

State, 589 So.2d 307 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), approved, 17 F.L.W. \$554 (Fla. July 23, 1992) (on other grounds). however, the omission of ife felonies most, irom subsections (4)(a) and (4)(e) creates an ambiguity which must be resolved by an examination of other expressions of legislative intent, i.e., the legislative intent expressed in Sections 775.0841 and 775.0842. This ambiguity is readily resolved by the express language of Section 775.0842(1)(a), Fla. Stat, (Supp. 1988), which evinces the legislature's clear intent to prosecute and punish as career criminals persons under arrest for the commission of "any felony in this state," including life felonies. ambiguity is further dissipated by the legislature's simultaneous addition of subsection (4)(e) to Section 775.084, and its enactment of Sections 775.0841 775.0842.² Hence, the First District's holding to the contrary in Lee notwithstanding, the legislature has indeed amended the habitual felony offender provision to reference life felonies. Furthermore, as the Third District acknowledged in Lamont, an interpretation of Section 775.084 which exempts those convicted of the most serious felonies from habitual offender classification is directly contrary

The simultaneous enactment of Section 775.084(4)(e) (exempting habitual felons from the diminished penalties of the sentencing guidelines), and Section 775,0842 (providing for career criminal prosecution of persons arrested for "any felony"), makes it quite apparent that the legislature intended to make those convicted of life felonies subject to the provisions of Section 775.084(4)(e).

to the legislative intent expressed in Sections 775.0841 and 775.0842.

A final indication that the trial court in the instant case properly sentenced the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender for the three sexual battery convictions is the fact that, as was the case in Lamont, the defendant here was convicted under Section 794.011(3), which specifically provides for punishment pursuant to Section 775.084, the habitual felony offender statute. This clearly reflects that even though Section 775.084 does not list life felonies in the enhancement provisions of subsections (4)(a) and $(4)(e)_{r}^{3}$ the legislature intended to make habitual felons subject convicted of that crime the qain-time restrictions, and particularly the exemption from the sentencing guidelines, provided by Section 775.084(4)(e). Moreover, as the Lamont court correctly concluded, a holding by this Court to the contrary would lead to the absurd result, never intended by the legislature, that habitual felons convicted of the most serious crimes benefit from the diminished penalties of the sentencing guidelines receive extensive gain-time, while those convicted of lesser crimes do not. Furthermore, such a holding would lead to the even more absurd result that repeat offenders of serious

Because life felonies are already subject to a maximum penalty of life imprisonment, there simply was no need for the legislature to "enhance" the maximum possible penalty for life felonies, as it was for first, second, and third degree felonies.

crimes would be exempted completely from classification as habitual felons by virtue of the fact that they habitually commit life felonies. This Court must avoid such a result. Dorsey v. State, 402 So.2d 1178, 1183 (Fla. 1981) ("In Florida it is a well-settled principle that statutes must be construed so as to avoid absurd results." omitted)); State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981). Lastly, as this Court noted in Burdick v. State, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1992) with respect to first degree felonies punishable by life, excluding life felonies from the habitual felony offender statute would operate as disincentive to a state attorney who might otherwise be inclined to prosecute an accused for a life felony but who instead chooses to pursue a less severe substantive penalty because that penalty is subject to habitual offender enhancement. Id. at 269.

To summarize, by simultaneously amending Section 775.084 to include subsection (4)(e) and stating in Section 775.0842 that all felonies are subject to the habitual felony offender statute, the legislature expressed its clear intent to punish those convicted of life felonies pursuant to Section 775.084. Additionally, the substantive provision under which the defendant was convicted specifically lists Section 775.084, the habitual offender statute, as a possible punishment. This again reflects the legislature's intent that the life felony of which the defendant was convicted is indeed subject to punishment under the habitual

felony offender statute. Finally, an interpretation of Section 775.084 which excludes defendants convicted of life felonies from sentencing under the habitual felony offender statute would lead to the absurd result that habitual felons convicted of the most serious offenses would retain the protection of the sentencing guidelines and gain-time provisions, while those convicted of lesser crimes would not. This Court therefore should answer the certified question in the affirmative and reinstate the habitual violent felony offender sentences imposed by the trial court in the three sexual battery counts.

ISSUE II

SHOULD THIS COURT RATIFY THE DISTRICT COURT DECISION BELOW WHICH OVERRULES EUTSEY V. STATE, 383 So.2d 219 (FLA. 1980) BY HOLDING THAT THE STATE HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF FOR SHOWING, AND THE TRIAL COURT MUST FIND, THAT PREDICATE FELONIES NECESSARY FOR HABITUAL FELON SENTENCES HAVE NOT BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE?

Because the case here should be controlled by this Cour 's disposition of State v. Hodges, Case no. 79,728, and State v. Anderson, Case no. 79,535, now pending, it is necessary to examine the inextricably intertwined holdings and relationship of Hodges and Anderson.4

Anderson argued in the district court that the State failed to introduce evidence showing, and the trial caurt failed to find, that the predicate felonies far the habitual offender sentence had not been pardoned or set aside. This issue had not been raised at trial. The State relied on this Court's holding in <u>Eutsey</u> that these were affirmative defenses which had to be raised and proven by the defendant,

In its opinion below, the First District cited Anderson v. State, 592 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. pending, Case no. 79,535 (Fla.), as controlling authority for its determination that the trial caurt erred reversibly in failing to make the required findings of fact before sentencing the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender. Because Anderson is currently pending review based on the First District's certification of a question of great public importance, this Court has jurisdiction over that same question in the instant case. See, e.g., Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981) (exercise of this Court's discretionary conflict jurisdiction proper where per curiam affirmance by district court cited case already pending review on basis of conflict jurisdiction).

rather than the State, and pointed out that Anderson had conceded three predicate felonies at trial, that he had not challenged either the presentence investigation report or the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, and had stipulated that he was the person in the two certified predicate judgments admitted in evidence. Nevertheless, without acknowledgment or reference to <u>Eutsey</u>, the district court held in relevant part:

The trial court's failure to make the by findings required section 775.084(1)(a) is, however, reversible error, even in the absence of objection. Rolle v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2558 (Fla. 4th DCA October 2, 1991), citing Parker v. State, 462 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1989) and Walker v. State, 462 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1985). Anderson's sentence must therefore be reversed. We note that, on remand for resentencing, the trial court may resentence Anderson as an habitual offender, if the requisite statutory findings are made by the court supported by the evidence.

Anderson, 592 So.2d at 1120 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

By petition for rehearing, the State argued that the district court had overlooked entirely the State's reliance on Eutsey which had interpreted and glossed the statute to place the requirement for raising the affirmative defenses on the defendant. On petition for rehearing the district court wrote to explain its decision and to certify a question of great public importance. The explanatory opinion acknowledged that Eutsey placed the burden of proof

on the defendant, not the State, but concluded that the trial court was nevertheless required to make the findings even if no evidence was introduced and no objections were entered. (The $\underline{Anderson}$ opinion is attached hereto as $\underline{Appendix}\ B$).

significant points about Anderson require comment. First, the case law cited in support is factually inapposite. Rolle, without setting out the facts of the case or even the year of the statute at issue, simply holds that the trial court failed to make unspecified statutorily required findings and then cites Parker and Walker The latter two cases address the failure of a support. trial court to make the formerly mandatory finding that protection of the public required imposition of habitual felon sentencing. That requirement, which clearly was not an affirmative defense, was deleted from section 775.084 in The cited cases lend no support to the proposition that a trial court must rule on the unraised affirmative defenses at issue here. Second, because, in good faith, we must assume that the district court considered that its holding was not in conflict with the Eutsey holding that the burden of proof was on the defendant, it had to believe that requiring the trial court to make factual findings was consistent with neither party introducing evidence to support the findings. That conclusion is simply illogical, as Hodges subsequently held. Third, again in good faith, the district court's statutory interpretation of section

775.084 had to be **based** on a conclusion that <u>Eutsey</u> was not grounded on a statutory interpretation by this Court that section 775.084(1)(a)3 and 4 created affirmative defenses which had to be raised by the defendant and which were waived when not raised. By not recognizing that it was simply reploughing ground already authoritatively covered in <u>Eutsey</u>, the district court created direct and express conflict with a controlling decision of this Court.

The decision in <u>Hodges</u> removes any doubt about direct and express conflict with <u>Eutsey</u> by (logically) interpreting <u>Anderson</u> as requiring the State, not the defendant, to assume the burden of proof on whether predicate felonies had been pardoned or set aside:

"A corollary of the holding in Anderson, although not discussed, would appear to be that the burden rests upon the state to present evidence sufficient to enable the trial court to make such findings."

Contrast, Eutsey:

We also reject his contention that the **State** failed to prove that he had not been pardoned of the previous offense or that it had not been **set** aside in a post-conviction proceeding since these are affirmative **defenses** available to Eutsey rather than matters required to be proved by the State.

Eutsey, 383 So.2d at 226.

No doubt recognizing that the aforementioned corollary acknowledged by the <u>Hodges</u> panel caused at least an appearance of conflict with this Court's holding in Eutsey,

the First District recently revisited this issue en banc in Jones v. State, Case no. 91-2961 (Fla. 1st DCA October 14, In Jones, a majority of the First District 1992). concluded that Anderson was correctly decided, and that a court must indeed find on the record that defendant's prior convictions have not been pardoned or set aside before it may sentence the defendant pursuant to the habitual felony offender provision. Noting that the trial court in Eutsey actually made verbal findings that the defendant's prior convictions had not been pardoned or set aside, the Jones majority determined that the lack of those findings requires reversal under Section 775.084(1)(a), regardless of the fact that these matters are affirmative defenses, and regardless of whether there is any evidence in the record to support those findings. Jones, slip op. at 6-Accordingly, the majority rejected the dissent's 7. conclusion that "section 775.084(1)(a) 3 and 4 should not be construed to require a trial judge to make findings of fact upon issues about which he has heard no testimony because the defendant never raised the matters as affirmative defenses." Slip op. at 11.

The <u>Anderson/Hodges/Jones</u> holdings are not only inconsistent with the explicit holding of <u>Eutsey</u> that the statutory burden of proof is on the defendant to show that the **predicate** felonies have been pardoned or set aside.

 $^{^{5}}$ A copy of the <u>Jones</u> opinion is attached hereto as Appendix $^{\circ}$.

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