FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 24 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT


Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,568

MICHAEL C. KNICKERBOCKER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

GEORGE F. SCHAEFER
ATTORNEY AT LAW
15 S.E. SEVENTH STREET
GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA 32601
(904) 338-1111
FLORIDA BAR NO. 308870

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

MAY A SENTENCE FOR A LIFE FELONY BE ENHANCED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE?

The First,² **Second**,³ **Fourth**,⁴ and **Fifth**⁵ District Courts of Appeal have all held that a life felony may not be enhanced under the habitual offender law. Only the Third District Court of Appeal in the case of Lamont v. State, 597 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992) (*en banc*), *review pending*, case no. 79,586 (Fla.)

²Sheffield v. Florida, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2387 (Fla. 1st DCA October 14, 1992); Lee v. Florida, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2392 (Fla. 1st DCA October 12, 1992) (*en banc*); Glover v. State, 596 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Conley v. State, 592 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Gholston v. State, 589 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), *affirmed*, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S554 (Fla. July 23, 1992); Sibley v. State, 586 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), *rev. denied*, 599 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 1992); West v. State, 584 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), *affirmed*, 594 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1992); Graham v. State, 583 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); and Johnson v. State, 568 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

³Moore v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 02322 (Fla. 2d DCA October 9, 1992); Matyas v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D1911 (Fla. 2d DCA August 14, 1992); Pelham v. State, 595 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Nixon v. State, 595 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Parker v. State, 593 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Leaty v. State, 590 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); White v. State, 589 So. 2d 1014 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Anthony v. State, 585 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); and McKinney v. State, 585 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

⁴Newton v. State, 603 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Newton v. State, 581 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), *approved*, 594 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1992); and Walker v. State, 580 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), *jurisdiction improvidently granted*, 593 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1992).

⁵Mishoe v. State, 601 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Haves v. State, 598 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); and Power v. State, 568 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

has ruled to the contrary. The parties in Lamont presented oral arguments before this court on November 5, 1992 and this court's ruling in the Lamont case should resolve the conflict between the Third District Court of Appeal and the four other district courts of appeal.

Under the habitual violent felony offender law, the following types of felonies are subject to the following types of enhancement:

1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years.
2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a **term** of years not exceeding 30, and such offender shall not be eligible for release **for** 10 years.
3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a **term** of years not exceeding 10, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 5 years.

§775.084(4)(b), Fla. Stat.

When a first degree felony is enhanced to life under the habitual violent offender law, the legislature **has** explicitly provided that there is no eligibility **for** release from prison **for** fifteen years. In contrast, a person **who** receives a natural life sentence under the sentencing guidelines is not eligible for parole and does not benefit from gain time. Wemett v. State, 567 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1990). For this reason it is obvious that a life sentence imposed under the sentencing guidelines, where there is no eligibility for parole, is a more severe sentence than a life sentence imposed under the habitual

violent offender law, where by implication there is eligibility for parole after fifteen years.

The state's argument that a person convicted of a life felony can have their sentence enhanced under the habitual violent felony offender law, if adopted, would cause an absurd result: under the guise of enhancement a person would actually receive a less severe life sentence than under the sentencing guidelines. Applying well-settled principles of statutory construction, this statute must be construed to avoid absurd results. Dorsev. State, 402 So. 2d 1178, 1183 (Fla. 1991) and State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1991).

In this case the state has two motives in support of application of the habitual violent felony offender law to life felonies. First, recall the rationale advanced by the prosecutor at the trial court level for habitual violent felony offender sanctions. The state is concerned that because of prison overcrowding the legislature will be forced to grant life felons eligibility for parole and the state fears that those sentenced under the sentencing guidelines will become eligible for parole immediately. For this reason the state prefers a life sentence under the habitual violent felony offender law because the language explicitly precludes consideration for parole until after fifteen years. To construe the habitual violent felony offender law in the manner suggested by the state because of a fear of how elected officials will react in the future to Florida's ticking time

bomb of an exploding prison population violates Florida's due process clause found in Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. A penal statute may not be construed, consistent with due process, in anticipation of expected legislation.

The state's second motive for seeking reversal of the First District Court of Appeal in the case *sub judice* is that the state knows that without reversal the trial court cannot impose life sentences under the sentencing guidelines because a guidelines life sentence is a more severe sentence than a life sentence imposed under the habitual violent felony law.

Constitutional due process and the dictates of North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed.2d 656 (1969) forbid the imposition of punishment more harsh than the sentence reversed on appeal. See Banks v. State, 591 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and Taylor v. State, 576 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Accordingly, the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects Michael Knickerbocker from receiving a more severe guidelines life sentence for sexual battery after his successful appellate challenge to his habitual violent offender life sentence. See Gilliam v. State, 582 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991) citing North Carolina v. Pearce, *supra*. Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution also forbids the imposition of more severe guidelines life sentences. For this reason the maximum sentence under the sentencing guidelines that can be imposed for each sexual battery offense is a term of imprisonment not exceeding

forty years. See Hayes v. State, 598 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

The habitual violent offender law does not explicitly provide for enhancement of life felonies and this court may not rewrite legislative acts. Burdick v. State, 594 So. 2d 267, 269 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, the relief requested by the state should be denied.

ISSUE II

DID THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN NOT MAKING SPECIFIC FINDINGS OF FACT IN SUPPORT OF HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER SANCTIONS?

The trial court failed to make any findings in support of habitual violent offender sanctions which the first district correctly held requires reversal. The state incorrectly suggests that the failure of the trial court to make habitual violent offender finding constitutes harmless error:

[A] defendant, such as here, who appears in open court, accepts the validity of all hearsay information showing the predicate felonies, and offers no legal reason why sentencing should not be accomplished, has fully waived any right on appeal to challenge the absence of evidence or findings that predicate felonies have not been pardoned or set aside.

(Petitioner's brief at page 33). To the contrary, Michael Knickerbocker did not accept the validity of all of the hearsay information offered by the state in support of habitualization; furthermore, Knickerbocker did object to the imposition of habitual violent offender sanctions on the basis that they were illegally imposed.

In support of the state's request for habitual violent felony offender sanctions, the state at sentencing produced evidence of four prior felony convictions. The defense introduced uncontradicted evidence that two of these felony convictions were uncounseled felonies. Although the trial court did not make any written findings of fact, the trial court did

state that the uncounseled felony convictions could be considered for enhancement purposes because Mr. Knickerbocker did not pursue post-conviction relief from the uncounseled felony convictions.

More importantly, at the time of Michael Knickerbocker's sentencing, the habitual violent felony offender statute was generally construed to impose mandatory, rather than permissive, sentences. Then in Burdick v. State, 594 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1992) this court overruled the First District Court of Appeal's decision in which the first district held that the legislature mandated a life sentence for habitual first degree felony offenders. This court remanded that case for resentencing to the trial court because the trial court did not indicate whether it believed it could in fact decline to impose a life sentence.

The legislature has mandated that the trial court make specific findings of fact when sentencing a defendant as a habitual offender, and without these findings meaningful appellate review of sentencing decisions would be difficult, if not impossible. Walker v. State, 462 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1985). Because of the trial court's failure to make findings in the case at hand, it is impossible for any appellate court to determine whether the habitual violent felony offender sentences for the kidnapping and armed burglary offenses are in part illegally based on uncounseled felony convictions and further whether the court incorrectly believed, as did most

courts at the time, that it was required to impose life sentences.

The state in its petition for review has mischaracterized the holding of the First District Court of Appeal by suggesting that ratification of the district court's decision below will overrule Eutsey v. State, 383 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1980). In Eutsey the trial court made the required habitual offender findings and the issue was whether there was evidence to support those findings. In this case, the issue before the district court was not whether there is sufficient evidence to support a finding, had a finding been made by the trial court, but rather whether a lack of any findings requires reversal.

The state in its petition complains that the requirement that habitual offender findings be made will result in the wasteful use of scarce judicial resources and taxpayer money, lengthy delays in every habitual sentencing procedure, and "a legal churning" (petitioner's brief at page 29). There is a very simple solution to this problem. This court should mandate that when a trial court fails to make the necessary habitual offender findings, upon resentencing the defendant cannot be rehabilitized, but must instead be resented within the sentencing guidelines.

This type of rule has been quite effective in preventing the "legal churning" that the state complains of in other types of cases. For instance, this court has held that when a trial court fails to articulate a valid reason in writing for

departure from the sentencing guidelines, it may not articulate at resentencing new reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines. Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and Shull v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 1987). In a capital case, the trial court may not reimpose the death sentence when it fails to provide timely written findings in support of the death penalty during the first sentencing proceeding. Stewart v. State, 549 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1989), *cert. denied*, ___ U.S. ___, 110 S. Ct. 3294, 111 L. Ed. 2d 802 (1990).

Likewise, a sentencing court that fails to make the necessary findings under the habitual offender law should be precluded from again habitualizing a defendant at resentencing. In addition to saving scarce resources, such a rule will encourage the sentencing court and prosecutors to carefully comply with the habitual offender law if they are serious about habitual offender sanctions by making sure that the statutory findings are **made**.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in this answer brief, Michael Rnicksrbocker respectfully requests that the certified question under Issue I be answered in the negative, and that this court affirm the first district's decision with respect to Issue II except that upon resentencing for the armed burglary and kidnapping offenses, the defendant should be sentenced within the sentencing guidelines and not under the habitual violent offender statute because the trial court failed to make the necessary habitual violent offender findings at the first sentencing hearing.

George F. Schaefer

George F. Schaefer
15 S.E. Seventh Street
Gainesville, Fl. 32601
(904) 338-1111
Fla. Bar No.: 308870

Attorney for Respondent